73268-4

73268-4

FILED October 27, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington NO. 73268-4-I

DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HASSAN FARAH, ILEYS OMAR, MARIAN MUMIN, DAHIR JAMA, FOUZIA M. MOHAMUD, MARIAN ALI, ABDIAZIZ ABDULLE, SAALIM ABUKAR, MOHAMED ISMAIL, SUDI HASHI, HALI ABDULLE, MURAYAD ABDULLAHI, ZAINAB AWEIS, FARDOWSA ADEN, MARYAN MUSE, ASLI MOHAMED, SAHRA GELLE (A/K/A Hani Huseen), ASHA FARAH, ALI ADAM ABDI, MUNA MOHAMED, FARAH GEEDI, AHMED HASSAN HUSSEIN, IBRAHIM SALAH, AHMED A. HIRSI, and MOHAMUD A. HASSAN,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

HERTZ TRANSPORTING, INC., MATT HOEHNE, and TODD HARRIS,

Defendants/Respondents,

I. INTRODUCTION

The Plaintiffs/Appellants seek a new trial. They are twentyfive Somali Muslims who worked as "shuttlers" for Defendant/ Respondent Hertz Transporting, Inc. at the Seattle-Tacoma International Airport. They were denied a full and fair hearing on their claims of religious and national origin discrimination in violation of RCW 49.60, *et seq.*, owing to the cumulative effect of a litany of erroneous rulings by the trial court.

The trial court repeatedly sustained improper objections by defense counsel during Plaintiffs' cross-examination of critical adverse witnesses, some called by Plaintiffs on Plaintiffs' case, including sustaining improper "argumentative," "foundation," "misleading," and "assumes facts not in evidence" objections. The net effect was to take what should have been a presentation of Plaintiffs' exploration of the credibility of Defendants' witnesses—frequently the determinative issue in cases alleging discrimination—and to turn Plaintiffs' case into a modern day news story in which the reporter simply reports what a person says without exploring whether those statements are to be believed.

The court also improperly excluded as alleged hearsay an email string between managers, which was a business record, and was

outcome determinative, showing Defendants conceived a plan to set Plaintiffs up for "insubordination" months before the events giving rise to Plaintiffs' terminations occurred. The trial court's rejection of the email string was based on the court's misunderstanding the business record exception to ER 802. When asked for clarification regarding the admission of emails, the trial judge stated, "almost none of the exhibits are business records, in my estimation."

Plaintiffs requested a jury instruction informing jurors that they may infer discrimination from their disbelief of Defendants' stated reasons for their actions. This instruction, based on the 8th Circuit's Model Instruction, was consistent with the applicable standards for determining motions for summary judgment under state and federal law, which are well-known to lawyers and judges—but are generally unknown concepts for the lay jurors asked to decide the ultimate question of discrimination. The court refused the instruction that was requested to educate the jury on inferences from "pretext."

In closing, Defendant treated hearsay evidence previously offered for purposes of "notice" as substantive evidence, which Plaintiffs objected to but were overruled. Plaintiffs' subsequent requests for mistrial or curative instruction were denied. As a result of these and other erroneous rulings, substantial justice was not done.

The jury returned a verdict in favor of Defendants.

Plaintiffs filed a motion for new trial outlining the court's erroneous rulings, including an appendix with a detailed list of more than 120 errors made by the court in sustaining a wide variety of improper objections by the Defendants. The trial court denied the motion for new trial, and Plaintiffs filed this appeal. For the reasons that follow, this Court should grant Plaintiffs a new trial.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Assignments of Error

- The trial court erred in sustaining improper objections by defense counsel throughout Plaintiffs' crossexamination of critical adverse witnesses.
 (See Summary of Court's Rulings on Defendants' Objections, Sustaining Objections, CP 2601-55).
- The trial court erred in excluding Exhibit 1929 (CP 2666-67, at App. 1), an email Hertz manager Jeff Wilson sent to other managers, regarding plans to discipline Plaintiffs for alleged insubordination. (12/8/14 RP 30:13-33:23; 12/9/14 RP 5-6).
- 3. The trial court erred in admitting hearsay testimony stating that a union manager had admitted Hertz's policy required clocking out for prayer, a fact contested by every Plaintiff. (11/17/14 RP 18:23-19:5).
- 4. The trial court erred in failing to take corrective action after Defendants improperly treated alleged notice evidence as substantive evidence in closing. (12/10/14 RP 125:8-18; CP 2269-71).
- 5. The trial court erred in refusing to give Plaintiffs' proposed Jury Instruction No. 11 (CP 1109, at App. 2).

(12/10/14 RP 21:11-22:9).

6. The trial erred in denying Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial. (CP3235-36).

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Whether Plaintiffs in a discrimination case must be afforded full and fair opportunity to cross-examine adverse witnesses to establish pretext and improper objections should not inhibit the same? Yes.
- 2. Whether Exhibit 1929 was written by Defendant's manager to other managers on a subject he was authorized to make statements about? Yes; Or, whether Exhibit 1929 is a business record? Yes.
- 3. Whether out of court statements by union representatives to management offered for the truth of the matter asserted should have been admitted? No.
- 4. Whether after objection, the jury should be instructed that hearsay evidence treated as substantive evidence in closing may not be used for such purpose? Yes.
- 5. Whether Plaintiffs could adequately argue their theory of the case, and the jury be adequately informed on the law, absent an instruction explaining that the jury may infer discrimination from proof that Defendants' stated reasons for their actions are unworthy of belief? No.
- 6. Whether the cumulative effect of the court's erroneous rulings rendered the denial of Plaintiffs' motion for new trial an abuse of discretion? Yes.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual background leading to discrimination claims.

Many of the Plaintiffs in this case applied for and accepted

employment at Hertz because the company permitted them to pray

during the workday.¹ Shuttler shifts varied and started as early as 4 a.m. and ended as late as 12 a.m., seven days per week. 11/12/14 RP 20; 11/13/14 RP 117. Hertz paid its Shuttlers slightly over minimum wage, and did not provide any benefits or even sick days. 11/12/14 RP 22. For years, Hertz Managers Hoehne and Harris, the individual defendants in the case, treated Plaintiffs harshly and with disrespect.²

1. For more than a decade, Hertz allowed its employees to pray, smoke, and drink coffee without clocking out.

For more than a decade, Hertz permitted its Somali Muslim employees to stop work to pray briefly during the workday without clocking out.³ Likewise, Hertz permitted its employees to engage in other activities, including smoking, drinking coffee, and going to the bathroom, without clocking out.⁴ Plaintiffs' prayer typically took

¹ See e.g., CP 2008-09 (acknowledging that while the Shuttler job is typically a high-turnover job, many Somali Muslims worked as Shuttlers for more than ten years because they were allowed to pray); 11/19/14 RP 119-21 (Abdulle); 11/20/14 RP 47-48 (Farah); 11/24/14 RP 113 (Hirsi); 11/25/14 RP 46-47 (Aweis); 12/1/14 RP 74-75 (Geedi)

² Some of their actions included: not calling Plaintiffs by name (11/18/14 RP 17-18; 11/24/14 RP 17); using a harsh tone when speaking to Plaintiffs (11/19/14 RP 87; 11/20/14 RP 30-31); not greeting Plaintiffs (11/18/14 RP 88); peering into the Women's Mosque for no reason, repeatedly, with knowledge of its impropriety (11/19/14 RP 25); entering the Women's Mosque for no reason (11/18/14 RP 86-87); publicly and falsely accusing Plaintiffs of not being clocked out for lunch without checking time cards first (<u>id.</u>); waiting outside the women's bathroom door to yell at one of the female Plaintiffs (12/3/14 RP 37-39); and calling Ahmed Hirsi a terrorist. (11/24/14 RP 116). Some of the Plaintiffs filed EEOC charges relating to this treatment in 2009. *See* CP 2657, 2663.

³ See, e.g., 11/12/14 RP 26-27; 11/17/14 RP 140-41; 11/17/14 RP 151; <u>id.</u>, at 173. ⁴ See, e.g., 11/12/14 RP 35; 11/17/14 RP 143-44.

about three to five minutes.⁵ Hertz's break policy did not instruct employees to clock out for prayer (*see* Exs. 1735, 1744, 1745, 1748⁶); specifically permitted employees to take short breaks without clocking out (*see* Ex. 1745); and specifically *excluded* clocking out when at the women's prayer area (*see* Ex. 1744).

2. In 2010, Matt Hoehne became the operations manager at SeaTac, reporting to Todd Harris.

In 2010, Matt Hoehne became Hertz's City Operations Manager. 11/12/14 RP 145. As such, Hoehne was responsible for overseeing the company's day-to-day operations at SeaTac Airport. Id. at 147; CP 1589. Hoehne reported to the Area Manager, Todd Harris, who was responsible for all of Hertz's operational aspects at SeaTac. 11/12/14 RP 146; 11/13/14 RP 87.

In about September 2010, Location Manager Jeff Wilson was made responsible for managing Hertz's "shuttlers department." 12/4/14 RP 189. In that role, Wilson was "responsible for the efficiency of the group" and "day-to-day operations[,] ... making sure that scheduling was taken care of and that policies and procedures were understood and enforced." <u>Id.</u>, at 191:4-6. Hoehne was Wilson's "direct on-site supervisor" and Harris was his "technical supervisor"

⁵ See 11/13/14 RP 139; 11/12/14 RP 39.

⁶ References to the trial exhibits are cited as "Ex.".

responsible for annual performance reviews. 12/8/14 RP 13-14.

3. In March 2011, Hertz Manager Wilson proposed a plan to go after the Somali Muslims for praying, with the goal to write them up for insubordination.

On March 26, 2011, Manager Wilson wrote an email to

Hoehne, Harris and other Hertz managers with the subject line "New SHTL [Shuttler] Contract – The next step." CP 2666-67 (App. 1), Ex. 1929. In the email, Wilson organized a meeting with the other managers, scheduled for the upcoming Monday (March 28), "to discuss how we will be proceeding with enforcing the new shtl [shuttler] contract." Id. In preparation for the meeting, Wilson described a detailed plan to set up the shuttlers who pray for "insubordination" and "issue all the letters together to flood the union with paperwork." *See* id. Wilson wrote to Harris, Hoehne, and the

other managers that in following the plan:

One of three things will happen:

A) Employees go to pray anyway and do not inform the dispatcher. We then write them up for INSUBORDINATION for not notifying us of an intermittent break.

B) Employees notify the dispatcher, who then signs for us that the employee notified them, and we write the shuttler up for MISUSE OF COMPANY TIME on their TEN MINUTE BREAK, because they punched it and we can prove it.

C) In the unlikely event that someone properly elects intermittent breaks, they will inevitably take more than 5 minutes, so then we write them up for INSUBORDINATION for not punching out for a break larger than 5 minutes. Or it really does take 5 minutes, and all is well.

CP 2666-67 (App. 1), Ex. 1929 (emphasis in original).

4. In September 2011, Hertz changed its practice to require its employees to clock out for religious observations only.

On September 27, 2011, the individual defendants decided to change the company's written clocking out policy to require employees who prayed during the workday to clock out. *See* Ex. 1 ("Per the CBA, all rest and meal periods must be punched, including any *religious observation* you do when you're here.") (emphasis added); Ex. 2 ("Per the CBA, ALL rest and meal periods must be punched, including ALL *religious observation*. Failure to punch for a rest period will result in progressive disciplinary action up to and including termination.") (emphasis added); 11/12/14 RP 178-83. Management's memos specifically identified only religious observation, and did not identify any other personal activity that an employee must clock out for such as smoking, talking on a cell phone, or drinking tea or coffee. Exs. 1 and 2.

Hertz contends that this policy was implemented in response to reports to managers from headquarters that "some Shuttlers" were abusing the system by "taking clocked breaks as well as unclocked breaks at time for prayer." 11/6/14 RP 146; CP 1602. Hoehne claims

he was aware of widespread break abuse in 2010 and 2011. <u>Id.</u> But none of his supervisors criticized him or even spoke to him for not taking action and disciplining the employees who allegedly were taking breaks without clocking out. *See* CP 1603-04. After a meeting with Hertz corporate representatives, Manager Hoehne believed that the Sea-Tac management needed to do a better job of "holding employees accountable for breaks they take." CP 1624.

Manager Todd Harris claims that he received an allegation that "prayer breaks were being abused" and Muslim employees were taking *an hour* for prayer.⁷ CP 1684-85, 1687-88. He claims he believed the allegation to be true although he had never observed one single Somali Muslim employee praying without clocking out. CP 1688; 1691-92. He admitted that he assumed, without investigating, that the allegation that every Somali Muslim was engaging in some form of prayer abuse was true. CP 1693-94; 1701-02. He then implemented a plan to have Hertz managers observe prayer and suspend the Somali Muslim employees who prayed without clocking out. CP 1706-07.

So, starting on September 30, 2011, Hertz management

⁷ But Mr. Hoehne testified that the decision to implement the clocking out policy and discipline starting on September 30, 2011, "had nothing to do with the length" of breaks. CP 1636.

confronted each Plaintiff as they exited the prayer rooms, after they prayed, and asked whether they had clocked out before praying. CP 1649-50.

5. Hertz did not inform its Somali Muslim employees that it expected them to clock out for prayer.

The vast majority of Hertz's Somali Muslim employees could not read or write in English and understood only the few words needed to do their jobs⁸ (*e.g.* "take the dirty car").⁹ Operations Manager Muhammad Babou was Hertz's only manager who spoke and wrote Somali. 11/17/14 RP 147. September 30 and October 1, 2011, were his days off. <u>Id.</u> at 146-47; CP 2024. Hertz did not translate its policy memos into Somali. *See* Ex. 1 and Ex. 2. Hertz managers did not communicate orally its change in policy to the Somali Muslim employees.¹⁰ As a result, Plaintiffs were not informed

⁸ Shuttlers' job responsibilities were to "move cars from Point A to Point B." CP 1587-88.

⁹ See 12/2/14 RP 97 (A. Abdulle); 11/17/14 RP 170 (A. Abdi); 11/24/14 RP 82-83 (F. Aden); 11/18/14 RP 121-22 (S. Hashi); 12/2/14 RP 24 (A. Hussein); 11/20/14 RP 22 (D. Jama); 11/25/14 RP 13 (A. Mohamed); 12/1/14 RP 73 (F. Geedi); 12/2/14 RP 119 (F. Mohamud); 11/19/14 RP 117 (H. Abdulle); 12/1/14 RP 32 (I. Salah); 12/3/14 RP 30-31 (M. Ali); 12/3/14 RP 56 (M. Muse); 11/25/14 RP 67 (M. Abdullahi); 11/25/14 RP 111 (S. Abubakar); 11/24/14 RP 48 (H. Huseen); 12/2/14 RP 58 (M. Mumin). A few of the Plaintiffs spoke and read English at an elementary level. *See* 11/18/14 RP 63 (A. Farah); 11/24/14 RP 111 (A. Hirsi); 11/20/14 RP 46-47 (H. Farah); 11/19/14 RP 76 (M. Ismail); 12/1/14 RP 104-05 (M. Hassan); 11/13/14 RP 115-16 (M. Mohamed); 11/25/14 RP 45 (Z. Aweis). And only one of the Plaintiffs spoke English fluently. *See* 11/12/14 RP 15 (Omar).

 ¹⁰ See 12/2/14 RP 100-01, 104 (A. Abdulle); 11/17/14 RP 173, 175 (A. Abdi);
 11/24/14 RP 84, 93 (F. Aden); 11/18/14 RP 125, 133; 11/19/14 RP 67 (S. Hashi);
 12/2/14 RP 26, 28, 37 (A. Hussein); 11/20/14 RP 24-25, 36-37 (D. Jama); 11/25/14 RP 15-16, 18 (A. Mohamed); 12/1/14 RP 75, 78 (F. Geedi); 12/2/14 RP 121-22;

of Hertz's decision to change its long-standing practice of allowing

them to pray without clocking out. See id., and Exs. 1 and 2.11

6. Hertz abruptly suspended, and then terminated, Somali Muslim employees who prayed on September 30 through October 3, 2011, without clocking out.

After each Plaintiff prayed on September 30, 2011, and the

days that followed, Hertz suspended each and every one of them.¹²

During their suspensions, Plaintiffs made unconditional offers to

return to work, despite their belief that Hertz had violated the anti-

^{12/3/14 13 (}F. Mohamud); 11/19/14 RP 120; 11/20/14 RP 14 (H. Abdulle); 12/1/14 RP 54, 57 (I. Salah); 12/3/14 RP 32, 36-37 (M. Ali); 12/3/14 RP 62, 73 (M. Muse); 11/25/14 RP 69, 94-95, 97 (M. Abdullahi); 11/25/14 RP 113-14, 116-17 (S. Abubakar); 11/24/14 RP 49-50, 62 (H. Huseen); 12/2/14 RP 59, 61, 63 (M. Mumin); 11/18/14 RP 65-66, 70 (A. Farah); 11/24/14 RP 115, 121, 123 (A. Hirsi); 11/20/14 RP 49-50, 52 (H. Farah); 11/19/14 RP 78-79, 84-85 (M. Ismail); 12/1/14 RP 107, 110, 112-13 (M. Hassan); 11/13/14 RP 117, 122 (M. Mohamed); 11/25/14 RP 47, 50 (Z. Aweis); 11/12/14 RP 26-27 (I. Omar).

¹¹ See also, e.g., 11/18/14 RP 13, 59-60 (A. Abdi); 11/24/14 RP 105 (F. Aden); 11/19/14 RP 52 (S. Hashi); 12/2/14 RP 36-37 (A. Hussein); 11/20/14 RP 40 (D. Jama); 11/20/14 RP 12 (H. Abdulle); 12/3/14 RP 52 (M. Ali); 11/18/14 RP 113 (A. Farah); 11/24/14 RP 135 (A. Hirsi); 11/19/14 RP 102 (M. Ismail); 12/2/14 RP 9 (M. Hassan); 11/25/14 RP 59 (Z. Aweis). One of the Plaintiffs testified she saw one of the memos posted, but "assumed it was for the men clocking out to go to the off-site mosque to pray." 11/12/14 RP 36-37 (I. Omar).

¹² See 12/2/14 RP 106 (A. Abdulle); 11/17/14 RP 177 (A. Abdi); 11/24/14 RP 88-89 (F. Aden); 11/18/14 RP 132-34 (S. Hashi); 12/2/14 RP 29 (A. Hussein); 11/20/14 RP 28 (D. Jama); 11/25/14 RP 21 (A. Mohamed); 12/1/14 RP 78 (F. Geedi); 12/3/14 RP 12-13 (F. Mohamud); 11/19/14 RP 127 (H. Abdulle); 12/1/14 RP 39 (I. Salah); 12/3/14 RP 35-36 (M. Ali); 12/3/14 RP 63-64 (M. Muse); 11/25/14 RP 74-75 (M. Abdullahi); 11/25/14 RP 117-18 (S. Abubakar); 11/24/14 RP 53 (H. Huseen); 12/2/14 RP 63 (M. Mumin); 11/18/14 RP 74 (A. Farah); 11/24/14 RP 121-22 (A. Hirsi); 11/20/14 RP 52 (H. Farah); 11/19/14 RP 84 (M. Ismail); 12/1/14 RP 111-12 (M. Hassan); 11/13/14 RP 121-22 (M. Mohamed); 11/25/14 RP 42 (I. Omar).

discrimination laws. ¹³ But instead of returning the Plaintiffs to work, Hertz terminated their employment *en masse* without citing any individual abuse of a prayer break.¹⁴

At the time that Hertz suspended and terminated the Plaintiffs, the Company's "Employee Rules & Regulations" stated that an employee can be subject to "progressive discipline including verbal and/or written warning, suspension or discharge" for failing to "follow established time card procedures." Ex. 1086; 11/12/14 RP 38-39. But Hertz did not follow its own policy. It did not give the Plaintiffs verbal or written warnings prior to their suspensions. *See* Sections 5 and 9 herein; 12/3/14 RP 116.

7. Hertz treated the Somali Muslims who prayed as a group, not as individuals.

Hertz's plan to observe prayer and suspend the Somali

Muslim employees who prayed without clocking out, was

dramatically different from the way Hertz addressed other allegations

¹³ See, e.g., Ex. 59 (A. Abdulle); Ex. 80 (A. Abdi); Ex. 115 (F. Aden); Ex. 233 (S. Hashi); Ex. 73 (A. Hussein); Ex. 94 (A. Mohamed); Ex. 107 (F. Geedi); Ex. 122 (H. Abdulle); Ex. 142 (I. Salah); Ex. 161 (M. Ali); Ex. 178 (M. Muse); Ex. 210 (M. Abdullahi); Ex. 217 (S. Abubakar); Ex. 226 (H. Huseen, f.k.a. S. Galle); Ex. 170 (M. Mumin); Ex. 88 (A. Farah); Ex. 66 (A. Hirsi); Ex. 130 (H. Farah); Ex. 193 (M. Hassan); Ex. 202 (M. Mohamed); Ex. 243; Ex. 152 (I. Omar).

¹⁴ See, e.g., Ex. 60 (A. Abdulle); Ex. 67 (A. Hirsi); Ex. 81 (A. Abdi); Ex. 116 (F. Aden); Ex. 234 (S. Hashi); Ex. 74 (A. Hussein); Ex. 101 (D. Jama); Ex. 95 (A. Mohamed); Ex. 108 (F. Geedi); Ex. 123 (H. Abdulle); Ex. 131 (H. Farah); Ex. 186 (M. Ismail); Ex. 171 (M. Ali); Ex. 194 (M. Hassan); Ex. 203 (M. Mohamed); Ex. 218 (S. Abubakar); Ex. 227 (H. Huseen, f.k.a. S. Galle); Ex. 244 (Z. Aweis); Ex. 153 (I. Omar).

of misconduct. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 567 (progressive discipline of Hoehne), CP 1724 (Hertz did not discipline managers as a group when one misbehaved).

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