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

rulings merely functioned to compel counsel to structure his questions to 

allow the witness to give, and the jury to hear, meaningful and admissible 

testimony. Similarly, the trial court also properly sustained objections to 

Plaintiffs’ requests for witnesses on the stand to identify individual 

Plaintiffs from among the large group sitting far away in the public gallery 

of the crowded court room, with the women wearing traditional clothing 

which covered their heads. E.g., 11/12 RP 23:3-16, 226:21-227:10. Under 

these circumstances, a witness’s ability to see and identify specific 

Plaintiffs who had not worked at Hertz since being suspended more than 

three years before the trial did not have probative value. Instead, 

Plaintiffs’ questions were intended for pure theatrics,51 as were their 

argumentative questions falsely insisting that managers made no effort to 
                                                 
49 See, e.g., Wright & Miller, 28 Fed. Prac. & Proc. Evid. § 6164 (2d ed.) (an 
argumentative question “asserts facts with such a forceful tone it suggests those facts are 
established and the answer is of no consequence”); Eichman, 69 Wn.2d at 331 (questions 
on cross-examination “were properly disallowed since they were argumentative”). 
50 See, e.g., 11/12 RP 235:15-19 (asking Hoehne: “Well, would you agree that on October 
3rd you suddenly came up with a list of people that you claim you talked to 
beforehand?”); 11/13 RP 50:10-16 (asking Harris: “As a matter of fact, you actually set 
up a plan for how you were going to coax other employees to sort of fill out a form of 
how they had notice, correct?”); 12/9 RP 160:18-25 (sustaining objection to 
characterization and use of the word “fact” after counsel asked Luchini if he was “aware 
that Tracey Thompson had been interviewed by the media and talked about the fact that 
the policy was only being applied against people praying and not against smokers?”). 
51 Plaintiffs made no proposal, for example, to bring any Plaintiffs from the distant gallery 
up to the vicinity of the witness stand to enable identification.  
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identify individuals who violated the rest break rules and instead just 

assumed all Plaintiffs engaged in such violations. Br. at 26-27.  

e. Plaintiffs Were Not Prejudiced 

Plaintiffs would have this Court believe that Judge Mary Roberts 

erred in 120 (or 64%) of the approximately 187 objections she sustained 

against Plaintiffs. CP 2590, 2600-2655, 2955. This amounts to an 

unfounded attack on her competence, credibility and impartiality. 

Moreover, Plaintiffs’ implication that the trial court favored Defendants in 

its rulings on objections and its control of the proceedings is disingenuous. 

The trial court also sustained approximately 179 of Plaintiffs’ objections 

to Defendants’ testimony and evidence. CP 2972. Additionally, the trial 

court allowed Plaintiffs’ counsel to employ leading questions throughout 

Plaintiffs’ direct examinations.52   

Finally, while Plaintiffs cannot show that the trial court abused its 

discretion in its rulings on objections to form, even if they could, they 

cannot show any resulting prejudice, because they remained free to (and 

most often did) simply rephrase their questions and/or alter their approach 

in order to continue pursuit of the desired evidence. See Unigard Ins. Co. 

v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 160 Wn. App. 912, 924, 250 P.3d 121 

(2011) (“there are grounds for reversal only if the error was prejudicial”); 

                                                 
52 See, e.g., 11/12 RP 52:2-8; 11/18 RP 71:20-24; 12/2 RP 64:19-65:2; 12/1 RP 7:15-23. 
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Falk v. Keene Corp., 53 Wn. App. 238, 250, 767 P.2d 576, aff’d, 113 

Wn.2d 645, 782 P.2d 974 (1989) (limits on cross of witness did not 

prejudice party’s ability to impeach his credibility, because evidence 

sought was “already in the record and available for appellant’s use in 

closing argument”).  

C. No Error in Exclusion or Admission of Evidence 

1. Standard of Review 

Trial court rulings regarding the admission of evidence are 

reviewed for abuse of discretion. Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co., 123 

Wn.2d 93, 107, 864 P.2d 937 (1994). “Discretion is abused only when it is 

exercised in a manifestly unreasonable manner, or based on untenable 

grounds.” Id. Evidence Rule 103(a) further provides that “[e]rror may not 

be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a 

substantial right of the party is affected.” Thus, if error occurs, the 

question is whether it was prejudicial, for error without prejudice is 

harmless and not grounds for reversal. Brown v. Spokane Cnty. Fire Prot. 

Dist. No. 1, 100 Wn.2d 188, 196, 668 P.2d 571 (1983). To find an error 

prejudicial, the Court must determine, “within reasonable probabilities, if 

the outcome of the trial would have been different if the error had not 

occurred.” State v. Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 689, 695, 689 P.2d 76 (1984).  
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2. The Trial Court Properly Excluded Exhibit 1929  

Plaintiffs claim the trial court committed prejudicial error in failing 

to allow into evidence an email written by Jeff Wilson on March 26, 2011 

(CP 2666-67), more than six months before they were suspended for 

refusing to clock out for their prayer breaks. Br. at 47-48. While Plaintiffs 

do not contest the trial court’s conclusion that the email was hearsay 

pursuant to ER 801(c), they argue that it was an admission by a party-

opponent pursuant to ER 801(d)(2) and/or a record of regularly conducted 

activity pursuant to ER 801(a)(6). Id. at 47-51. The trial court did not fail 

to recognize those potential bases for admission, but rather determined 

that neither applied under the facts presented. 12/8 RP 30:4-35:3; 12/9 RP 

5:16-6:23. Accordingly, the trial court did not engage in an “incomplete 

legal analysis or a misapprehension of legal issues” (Br. at 35) or 

otherwise make an error of law subject to de novo review.  

a. Plaintiffs’ Failure to List Exhibit 1929 as Trial Exhibit 

As a preliminary matter, Plaintiffs’ challenge to the exclusion of 

Exhibit 1929 should be rejected, because they failed to identify it as an 

exhibit prior to trial. King County Local Civil Rules (“LCR”) require 

parties to exchange “lists of the exhibits that each party expects to offer at 

trial, except for exhibits to be used solely for impeachment,” not later than 

21 days before trial. LCR 4(j) (emphases added). Plaintiffs did not identify 
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Exhibit 192953 prior to their attempt to introduce it during their cross 

examination of Wilson (33 days after trial began). 12/8 RP 29:17-30:5. At 

a minimum, Plaintiffs’ failure to identify this email as an exhibit before 

trial fatally undermines their claim that it is “outcome determinative” and 

that its exclusion requires a new trial. Br. at 2-3; 12/8 RP 33:4. 

b. Rejection of ER 801(d)(2) Exclusion from Hearsay 

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that, 

“because of Mr. Wilson’s level in the company,” Exhibit 1929 was not an 

admission of a party opponent. 12/9 RP 6:20-6:23. In fact, Wilson was one 

of five managers at the lowest level of management at SeaTac, three levels 

below Area Manager Harris and four levels below General Manager 

Abdallah. 12/4 RP 189:1-191:6; 11/13 RP 86:17-88:25. And while 

Plaintiffs claim that Exhibit 1929 shows that Wilson created a plan “back 

in March 2011” to “set up the Plaintiffs for ‘insubordination,’” there is no 

evidence that Wilson disciplined any Plaintiff at any time after he sent this 

email, nor was he involved in any of the suspensions or terminations of the 

Plaintiffs in September and October 2011. Moreover, while Plaintiffs now 

claim Wilson was the mastermind of a plan that came to fruition six 

months later, they did not seek to include him as an individual defendant 

                                                 
53 See CP 676-866 (Joint Statement of Evidence, filed by Plaintiffs on September 22, 
2014, pursuant to LCR 4(k); Ex. 1929 not listed). 
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in this case, nor did they examine him during their case-in-chief, as they 

did with Hoehne and Harris. CP 1-24, 25-36, 2250; RP passim.  

While Plaintiffs rely on Wilson’s duty to ensure “policies and 

procedures were understood and enforced,” there is no evidence to show 

that he had any authority to, or ever did, (a) make or change any material 

policies or (b) terminate any Shuttler.54 See Ensley v. Mollmann, 155 Wn. 

App. 744, 751-53, 230 P.3d 599 (2010) (rejecting application of ER 

801(d)(2) where overall nature of witness’s authority to act for party was 

extremely limited). Moreover, it would be untenable to conclude that 

Wilson had authority to speak not only on behalf of Hertz, but also on 

behalf of defendants Harris and Hoehne.55 Under the circumstances, the 

trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that Exhibit 1929 did 

not constitute an admission by a party opponent, while still allowing 

Plaintiffs to fully explore the content of that email during their cross 

examination of Wilson and argue it as evidence of pretext in closing.56 

12/8 RP 28:23-30:12, 36:13-42:19; 12/10 RP 85:15-21. 

                                                 
54 12/4 RP 190:25-191:6 (Wilson was “responsible for the efficiency of the [Shuttler] 
group and sort of the day-to-day operations. Just making sure that scheduling was taken 
care of and that policies and procedures were understood and enforced”). 
55 See Feldmiller v. Olson, 75 Wn.2d 322, 323-24, 450 P.2d 816 (1969) (noting with 
approval trial court’s sustaining of objection that admission as to one defendant is not 
admission as to second defendant). 
56 See Crest Inc. v. Costco Wholesale Corp., 128 Wn. App. 760, 771, 115 P.3d 349 (2005) 
(no abuse of discretion in excluding hearsay statement of employee where no proof of 
employee’s authority to speak for employer on subject); Jackson v. Sara Lee Bakery 
Grp., 677 F. Supp. 2d 1268, 1272 (N.D. Ala. 2009) (statements of regional vice-president 
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c. Rejection of ER 803(a)(6) Exception to Hearsay

The trial court also did not abuse its discretion in concluding that 

Exhibit 1929 was not a business record subject to ER 803(a)(6).57 A 

business record is a “record of an act, condition or event” (RCW 

5.45.020), and thus is a “routine product of an efficient clerical system.”58 

“What such records have in common is that cross-examination would add 

nothing to the reliability of clerical entries: no skill of observation or 

judgment is involved in their compilation.”59 Here, Exhibit 1929 is not a 

routine notation of the occurrence of any act, condition or event. Instead, it 

is a detailed document in which Wilson (a) proposes to repeat training on 

rest breaks, (b) sets forth a proposal to “get break time commitments” 

from Shuttlers, and (c) speculates as to the ways in which continued abuse 

could be detected and addressed. Ex. 1929. Thus, the trial court did not 

abuse its discretion in concluding that it was not a business record.60  

in discrimination action were not admissions of his employer because, inter alia, he was 
not one of “the decision-makers with regard to the elimination of plaintiff’s job”). 
57 12/8 RP 33:18-23 (trial court: Exhibit 1929 “is not a routine document that indicates 
that a particular event has happened”). 
58 See Young v. Liddington, 50 Wn.2d 78, 83, 309 P.2d 761 (1957) (“Typical of such 
records are payrolls, accounts receivable, accounts payable, bills of lading, and so forth.”) 
59 In re J.M., 130 Wn. App. 912, 924, 125 P.3d 245 (2005).  
60 See Young, 50 Wn.2d at 83 (business records rule was not “intended to admit into 
evidence conclusions based upon speculation or conjecture”); United States v. Cone, 714 
F.3d 197, 220 (4th Cir. 2013) (insufficient to say that, “since a business keeps and 
receives e-mails, then ergo all those e-mails are business records falling within the ambit 
of” the business records exception).  
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d. Exclusion Pursuant to ER 403 

 Exhibit 1929 addresses the rest break requirements in place in 

March 2011, six months before Harris and Abdallah decided to require 

clocking for all rest breaks. 11/17 RP 20:9-21:7, 23:4-12; 12/8 RP 179:14-

22. Wilson played no role in that decision or in Plaintiffs’ subsequent 

suspensions and terminations. Moreover, Plaintiffs’ legal claims were 

based solely on their suspensions and terminations, not any prior actions 

of Hertz. CP 2277 (individual verdict forms). For these reasons, exclusion 

of Exhibit 1929 can also be alternatively upheld pursuant to ER 403, 

because its probative value (if any) is greatly outweighed by the risks of 

“confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury.” ER 403.61 

e. The Exclusion of Exhibit 1929 Was Harmless 

Even if erroneous, the exclusion of Exhibit 1929 was harmless. 

This conclusion necessarily follows from the fact that Plaintiffs were able 

to establish the timing and recipients of the email and fully explore its 

contents through their leading questions of Wilson, which amounted to 

Plaintiffs’ counsel effectively reading the email to the jury. 12/8 RP 34:11-

35:3, 36:13-43:9. Plaintiffs were also free to emphasize the existence and 

contents of this communication during closing arguments. 12/10 RP 

                                                 
61 See State v. Jones, 71 Wn. App. 798, 823-24, 863 P.2d 85 (1993) (trial court erred in 
excluding testimony on hearsay basis, but appellate court determined testimony still 
should be excluded on basis that it was unduly prejudicial).  
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85:14-21. Accordingly, the email itself was cumulative of testimony 

Plaintiffs introduced via their cross examination of Wilson, and there is no 

basis to reasonably conclude that its admission would have changed the 

jury’s unanimous verdict.62 Moreover, rather than evidencing any 

discriminatory bias or plot, Exhibit 1929 simply reiterates Wilson’s efforts 

to address the most legitimate concern an employer can have—ensuring its 

employees are actually working during the hours they are being paid to 

work. Consequently, even if erroneous, its exclusion was harmless.63 

3. Court Properly Allowed Testimony Regarding the CBA 

Plaintiffs claim the trial court should have excluded a reference to 

statements by Union Business Agent Tucker regarding the CBA’s rest 

break language. Br. at 32. While identified as alleged error (id. at 3-4), this 

claim need not be considered, because Plaintiffs offer no argument or legal 

authority.64 RAP 10.3(a)(6); see also Saviano, 144 Wn. App. at 72.

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